
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING AGENDA 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL 

                                                                        JANUARY 7, 2013 

                                                                                  6:30 P.M.     

 

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL/INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    

3.  APPROVE MINUTES:     Council Meeting Minutes / December 17, 2012  

                                                  Special Called Council Meeting Minutes / December 17, 2012 

                                                    

 PUBLIC HEARING:  Amendments to the Land Use and Development Ordinance 2011-54 

                                       1.)   Article 8 / Definition of Terms / Prefabricated / Accessory Structures        

                                       2.)   Article 9, Section 12 (g)  / Accessory Structures 

 

 

 4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 
    A.  FINANCE COMMITTEE -  Conaway           

    B.  BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE -  Haygood    

    C.  PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE  –   Rudicell 

          Review minutes / December 12
th

  

 

    D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  -    Fry       

    E.  PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE / SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY  -   LeJeune      

           

 

5. REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS:  
    A.  Board of Zoning Adjustments  –   Adrienne Jones   

    B.  Downtown Redevelopment Authority –  Conaway    

    C.  Industrial Development Board –  Dane Haygood       

          Nomination: Lynn Mitchell  

          Nomination:  John Cox  

 

    D.  Library Board –  Lake 

  E.  Planning Commission –Scott 

          Review minutes / November 15
th

            

a.) Set a Public Hearing Date for February 18, 2013 to consider amendments to the Land Use &    

  Development Ordinance: 

1.) Revisions to Zoning Map 

2.) Appendix O, Low Impact Development & Green Infrastructure 

 

    F.  Recreation Board  –   LeJeune  

    G.  Utility Board  –  Fry 

      

 

6.  REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

 

A.  Mayor’s Report                          
B.  City Attorney’s Report  

C.  Department Head Comments    

 

 

 1



CITY COUNCIL  MEETING AGENDA                    JANUARY 7, 2013                         PAGE   2 

 

 

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  

 

 

8. RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

     
RESOLUTIONS: 

a.)  Agreement: AL Dpt. of Economic & Community Affairs (ADECA) 

       Construction of Boardwalk Connector Bridge from Gator Alley Park 

        To the Eastern Shore National Recreation Trail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2013-01  

 

b.)  Revisions to City of Daphne Street Map. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2013-02 

 

 

 

  ORDINANCES: 

 

        2
ND

 READ 
a.) Appropriation of Funds: Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-72 

 

       

       1
st
 READ 

b.)  Consenting to the Lease of Certain Property by the  

       Utilities Board of the City Of Daphne to the City of Daphne. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-01 

 

c.)   Establishing Public Works Equipment Use Policy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-02 

 

d.)   Amending the Land Use & Development Ordinance 2011-54 

        Article 9, District Provisions – Section 12(g) Accessory Structures 

        and Article 8, Definitions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-03 

 

 

 

9. COUNCIL COMMENTS                   

10.  ADJOURN 

2



CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL:                                         CALL  VOTES                                    
COUNCILWOMAN CONAWAY    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN RUDICELL    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN LAKE   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN FRY    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN SCOTT   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN LEJEUNE     PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN HAYGOOD  PRESENT       ABSENT         

    

MAYOR 

 

MAYOR YELDING    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

INTERIM CITY CLERK: 

 

REBECCA HAYES                 PRESENT___    ABSENT___ 

 

CITY ATTORNEY: 
 

CITY ATTORNEY JAY ROSS  PRESENT       ABSENT    

 

 

MINUTE NOTES: 

 

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

3



 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

 

      CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES 

 

NOTES: 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                   

 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                                                             

4



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

1 

    

1.  CALL TO ORDER 

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

  

2.  ROLL CALL/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Mr. Willie Robison gave the invocation. 

  

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Tommie Conaway; John Lake Randy Fry; Ron Scott; Robin 

LeJeune; Dane Haygood. 

 

ABSENT: Pat Rudicell. 

 

Also present:  Mayor Yelding;  Rebecca Hayes, Interim City Clerk; Jay Ross, City Attorney, arrived at 6:55 

pm; Scott Hetrick, Attorney; Adrienne Jones, Planning Director; David Carpenter, Police Chief; James 

White, Fire Chief; Richard Johnson, Public Works Director; Vickie Hinman, Human Resource Director; 

Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Richard Merchant, Building Official; Tonja Young, Library 

Director; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy Finance Director; Ashley Campbell, Environmental Programs 

Manager; Rick Whitehead, IT; Officer Jamie Huffman, Police Department; Larry Cooke, BZA; Darrelyn 

Bender, Eastern Shore Chamber of Commerce; Liz Roberts, Eastern Shore Chamber of Commerce;. 

 

Absent:  Kim Briley, Finance Director; David McKelroy, Recreation Director;. 

 

 

3. APPROVE MINUTES: 

 

There were no corrections to the minutes, and stand as approved. 

 

MOTION:   To authorize resumes for the position of Municipal Judge to be accepted by the City       

                      Clerk’s office with a deadline of January 7, 2013. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to authorize resumes for the position of Municipal Judge to be 

accepted by the City Clerk’s office with a deadline of January 7, 2013.  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway. 

 

Councilman Haygood asked that the motion be amended to add 5:00 p.m. to the deadline. 

 

Councilman Lake and Councilwoman Conaway accepted the amendment. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR           NAY    NONE OPPOSED            MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

2 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to define the procedure for appointing the Municipal Judge as 

follows: 

 

1. For consideration for the Municipal Judge position, applicants should submit a resume to  the 

city clerk.  Consideration will be given to all applicants who submit a resume prior to the submission 

deadline of January 7, 2013 at 5:00 p.m. CT. 

 

2. First Round.  (Proposed to be held at the second council meeting in January (January 22, 

2013).  

 

 

The City Council shall review all resumes submitted for consideration.  

 

Each councilmember shall vote on FOUR (4) candidates to advance to the second  

round.  

 

            The four applicants receiving the highest number of votes shall advance to the  

            second round.  In the event of a tie, an additional vote to break the tie shall be held            

            with each councilmember voting for one of the candidates who are tied with  

            the candidate receiving the 4
th

 most votes.  Additional tie breaker votes to be  

            held as necessary to reduce the pool of candidates to FOUR (4). 

 

3.        Second Round.  (Interview round – to be held the 1
st
 council meeting of February  

            (February 4, 2013)   

 

The council shall conduct an interview of the FOUR (4) remaining candidates.    

 

The council shall conduct a vote with each council member voting for their top TWO (2)    

candidates to become the municipal judge.  The candidate with the most votes shall be the   

council appointee to the position.  In the event of a tie, an additional vote to break the tie shall  

be held with each council member voting for one of the candidates who are tied with the   

highest  number of votes.  Additional tie breaker votes to be held as necessary to reduce the  

pool of candidates to ONE (1). 

 

Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED           

 

 

MOTION:  To authorize the advertisement for the position of City Clerk 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Conaway to authorize advertisement for the position of City Clerk.  

Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

6



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

3 

 

4.  REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 

A. FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway 

The minutes for the December 10
th
 meeting are in the packet. 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to accept the Treasurers report in the amount of 

$18,359,555.59.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

     B.  Buildings and Property Committee – Lake 

The minutes for the October and December meeting are in the packet. The next meeting will be the first 

Monday in January. 

 

C.  PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE – Rudicell 

No report.   

 

   D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE – Fry 

No report.   

 

E.  PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE/SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY – LeJeune 

The minutes for the November 19
th
 meeting are in the packet.  The committee met today before the council 

meeting.  

 

                                                                                 

5.   REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS: 

A. Board of Zoning Adjustments – Jones 

The next meeting will be January 3
rd

 to consider a variance on Belrose Avenue. 

 

B. Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway 

The next meeting will be in January.  The chairman will give an update at one of the January council meetings. 

        
C. Industrial Development Board – Haygood 

There will not be a meeting in December.  Council will consider resumes at the next council meeting. 

 

D. Library Board – Lake 

No report. 

 

E. Planning Commission – Scott 

The minutes for the October 25
th
 meeting are in the packet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

4 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to Set a Public Hearing date for January 22, 2013 to consider:  

GCOF Retreat at Tiawasee, LLC 

Location:   Southwest of the intersection of Tiawasee Boulevard and County Road 13 

Present Zoning:  RSF-2 Single Family District, Baldwin County District 15 

Requested Zoning: R-2, High Density Single Family Residential District, City of Daphne 

 

Seconded by Councilman Lake 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

  

G. Utility Board – Fry 

The board met today to approve a contract with JMF Solutions so they can put equipment on the water towers.   

 

 

6.  REPORTS OF THE OFFICERS: 

    A.  Mayor’s Report 

         a.)  Approve Chamber of Commerce Requests for the 2013 Jubilee Festival 

        

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to approve the requests by the Chamber of Commerce for the Jubilee 

Festival to be held September 28-29, 2013 as follows: 

1. Permission to block Main Street from Magnolia Avenue South to Dryer Avenue.  The closing of this 

area would still allow access by area residents and church visitors. 

2. Permission to use Centennial Park for KidsART. 

3. Permission to allow children to paint on the back fence in Centennial Park. 

4. Assistance from Police and Street Departments with street closings and barricades from Friday, 

September 27,f 2013 after 5:00 p.m. until Sunday, September 29, 2013 after 6:00 p.m. 

5. Coordination by the Mayor with Riviera Utilities for additional electrical power access at the City Hall 

entrance utility pole. 

6. Permission to use City Hall as headquarters for the festival staff and volunteers. 

7. Permission to place temporary banners to help promote the 25
th

 Annual Jubilee Festival.                                

Specifics of the banners are as follows:                                                                                                      

Banners to read: Jubilee Festival, September 28
th

 and 29
th

                                                                                      

Banners to be posted 2 weeks prior to event                                                                                                           

Size of Banners to be 120” x 34”                                                                                                                       

Locations to include: Santa Rosa & Main Street Jubilee Mall Lawson Road Highway 98 at Montrose 

Welcome Sign 

8. Permission to place banners within the site of the festival.                                                                     

Seconded by Councilman Haygood                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

AYE  ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED         MOTION CARRIED    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

5 

 

b.)  Authorize the Mayor, City Attorney and a representative from the City Council to enter into          

       negotiations with Mr. Williams for the property on Whispering Pines, and come back to council   

       with recommendation 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to authorize the Mayor, City Attorney and Councilman Haygood to 

negotiate with the Mr. Williams  for the property on Whispering Pines Road, and report back to council 

with the findings.  Seconded by Councilwoman Conaway. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

      c.)  ABC License / Record Bar / 010 – Lounge Retail Liquor – Class I 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to approve the ABC License / Record Bar / 010 – Lounge Retail 

Liquor – Class I.  Seconded by Councilman LeJeune. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

    B.  City Attorney’s Report 

Mr. Ross asked council to adjourn into Executive Session at the end of the meeting to discuss pending 

litigation. 

 

    C. Department Head Comments 

James White – Fire Chief – reported they have amassed over 150 toys to be distributed to needy families.  

They have also collected $3,000 for MDA as a result of their boot drive.  He thanked the citizens for their 

support in both of these endeavors. 

 

Adrienne Jones – Planning Director – stated that she would like to have a joint work session with council 

and the Planning Commission to tweak the sign ordinance.  She would like to invite the business community 

and get their input. 

 

Richard Johnson – Public Works Director - wished everyone a merry Christmas. 

 

 

 

7.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 

Mr. Ouellette – 7720 Elizabeth Drive -  spoke regarding the pre-fab structure on Whispering Pines Road. 

 

Mr. Willie Robison – 560 Stuart Street -  spoke regarding changing the January 7, 2013 council meeting 

date or make it a quick meeting due to the BCS Championship game.  He wished everyone a merry 

Christmas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

6 

 

8.   RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS AND OTHER BUSINESS 

 

      RESOLUTIONS: 

 

a.)  Service Agreement:  Between Baldwin County and the  

      City of Daphne / Connect to Fiber. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-99  

 

b.)  ALDOT Improvements Made on US-90 Within the City Limits 

       of Daphne, Alabama Project Number STPAA-0016(512)  Resurfacing  

      US-90 from SR-181 to SR-59 in Baldwin County . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-100 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to waive the reading of Resolution 2012-99 and 2012-100.  

Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Resolution 2012-99.  Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Resolution 2012-100.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPSOED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

ORDINANCES: 

 

 2
ND

  READ 

a.)   Consenting to the Sale by the Utilities Board of the 

       City of Daphne of Certain Personal Property Surplus. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-71  

 

 

         1
ST

 READ 
b.)   Appropriation of Funds: Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013 . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-72 
 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to waive the reading of Ordinance 2012-71.  Seconded by Councilman 

Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to adopt Ordinance 2012-71.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED     

 

10



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

7 

 

ORDINANCE 2012-72 REMAINS 1
ST

 READ. 
 

 

   9.  COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Councilwoman Conaway wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

Councilman Lake wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

Councilman Fry wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

Councilman LeJeune wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

Councilman Haygood wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

Council President Scott wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year.. 

 

 Mayor Yelding wished everyone a merry Christmas and happy new year. 

 

10.  ADJOURN 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to adjourn into Executive Session to discuss pending litigation.  

Seconded by Councilwoman Conaway. 

 

The City Attorney certified that the foregoing reason for entering into Executive Session is according to the 

Open Meetings Act. 

 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Conaway  Aye    Haygood  Aye 

Lake   Aye    Scott   Aye 

Fry   Aye 

LeJeune  Aye 

 

    AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO DISCUSS, THE MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:14 

P.M. 

 

Respectfully submitted by,        Certification of Presiding Officer:       

 

                                                     
 

____________________________       ______________________________                          

Rebecca A. Hayes,       Ron Scott, 

Interim City Clerk                               Council President                     

         

 

11



DECEMBER 17, 2012 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

5:00 P.M. 
 

1.  CALL TO ORDER 

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 5:10 p.m. 

  

2.  ROLL CALL 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Tommie Conaway; John Lake; Randy Fry; Ron Scott; Robin LeJeune; 

Dane Haygood. 

 

ABSENT:  Pat Rudicell. 

 

Also present:  Mayor Small arrived at 5:50 p.m.; Rebecca Hayes, Assistant City Clerk; Scott Hetrick, 

Attorney; Vickie Hinman, Human Resource Director; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Richard 

Johnson , Public Works Director; Elizabeth May. 

 

 

Personnel Hearing 
 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to enter into Executive Session for a Quasi Judicial Hearing to discuss 

the good name and character of an employee.  The session will last one (1) hour.  Seconded by Councilman 

LeJeune. 

 

The City Attorney certified that the stated reason is acceptable according to the Alabama Open Meetings Act. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

Council entered into Executive Session at 5:13 p.m. 

 

Council returned from Executive Session at 6:35 p.m. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to uphold the Mayor’s termination of Elizabeth May.  Seconded by 

Councilman Fry. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED                MOTION CARRIED 

 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 6:37 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,                                                    

                                                     

      
______________________________                                                                                                                                            

Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk                                         

                       

     Certification of Presiding Officer:   
 

 

      __________________________________ 

12



JULY 1, 2009 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

DAPHNE, AL 

6:00 PM 
 

 2 

     Ron Scott, Council President 

13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STANDING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
                                                                    
                                                                   

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

PLANNING/ZONING/CODE ENFORCEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
 

PUBLIC SAFETY/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

PUBLIC WORKS/BEAUTIFICATION/MUSEUM COMMITTEE  REPORT 
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  

21



22



23



24



25



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

 
NOTES: 
 
BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENTS REPORT:
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD: 
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
LIBRARY BOARD: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
RECREATION BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
UTILITY BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                          
 
 
 

26



Industrial Development 

Board Nomination 

 

Lynn Mitchell, CCIM 
26244 Via Del San Francesco 

Daphne, Alabama 36526 
251-656-4770 

Lyn@bellsouth.net 
 

 
 

SKILLS 
 

• Insurance Adjustor, Alabama License 16802347. 

• Commercial and residential construction, planning, and development. 

• Management of personnel, clients, and business assets. 

• Training, curriculum development and education of clients, employees and community. 

• Public speaking to diverse groups in both large and small group settings. 

• Community outreach using a variety of forums including social networking, face to face, 

and printed media. 

• Fundraising 

• Volunteer workforce development. 

• Space management and construction in office, retail, and industrial settings, including 

medical facilities. 

• Knowledge of laboratory procedures, safety, and equipment. 

• Core computer skills including familiarity with GIS, Microsoft Office, Databases, and 

marketing via the internet and computer anchored presentations. 

 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 

• Built Commercial/Investment Real Estate firm closing an average of $15,000,000 in 

transactions annually from the ground up, ultimately selling to a national franchise. 

• Reviewed client investments, goals, and lifestyle needs 

• Counseled with clients to develop portfolio based investment strategies 

• Developed long and short-term investment programs for clients 

• Acted as client representative to interface with local officials and construction contractors on 

commercial projects including shopping centers, medical office, dialysis centers, industrial, office, 

multi-family, and development properties. 

• Marketed on national real estate platforms presenting properties to over 100 professionals at each 

meeting in instructional style settings using creative real estate transaction 

formats to expand both acquisition and disposition opportunities 

• Counseled novice realtors to assist in pursuit of CCIM designation. 

• Spearheaded the development of the Southern Gulf Coast District of the Alabama 

Chapter of CCIM working with both the state chapter and National CCIM 

• Volunteer with the Service Corps of Retired Executives, Job Seekers, Area Agency on 

Aging, and other local agencies. 
 

 
 

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY 
 

2008-current La Scala Real Estate Investments, LLC- Owner, Broker 

27

mailto:Lyn@bellsouth.net


2000- 2008 Mitchell Realty Group, Inc.- Broker, Owner, President 

 
1998-2000 Century 21 Long Mountain Realty-Sales Associate 

 
1996-1998 Prudential Georgia Realty-Sales Associate 

 
1989-1995 Mobile County Public Schools- Science Instructor 

From 1991-1995, I was a member of the Instructional Team serving the 

magnet school system, specifically in the Science Department. Working 

in the team environment, I developed curriculum and teaching models 

that were extended to schools throughout Mobile, the State, and school 

districts both nationally and internationally. Teacher of the Year 1991 

 
EDUCATION: 

 
AdjusterPro Insurance Adjuster/Xactimate Training 

 
CCIM Institute CCIM Designee 

Commercial Real Estate 

 
University of South Alabama, Alabama BS-Science Education 

 
 
 

Burlington College, New Jersey AAS-MTASCP 
 
 
 

Continuing Coursework at a number of colleges throughout the Southeast focusing on 

Science and Real Estate. 
 

 
 

PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATIONS: 

 
Alabama insurance Adjuster License #16802347 

Certified Commercial Investment Member (CCIM) designation awarded by 

CCIM Institute. 

 
Alabama and Georgia Teacher Certification in Grades K-12 (Not 

Current) American Society of Clinical Pathologists (inactive) 

AWARDS AND AFFILIATIONS: 

 
Mobile County Public Schools- Teacher of the Year 

Mobile County Public Schools- Science Teacher of the Year 

Kid’s Cottage- Board Member of Charitable Foundation serving Children of Gilmer 

County, Pickens County, and Fannin County, Georgia. 

Gilmer County, Georgia Lion’s Club 

Gilmer County Georgia Builder’s and Developers Association 

Gilmer County Georgia Chamber of Commerce 

North Georgia Domestic Violence Task Force- Board Member 

Alabama Senior Citizen's  Hall of Fame -2010 Inductee 

 

28



INDUSTIRAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD NOMINATION 

 

John R. Cox 

Post Office Box 3075 

Daphne, Alabama 36526 

(251) 517-4753 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Business Experience: 

 

Owner: JRC Legal, 1703 Main Street, Daphne, Alabama, July, 2009 – present.  JRC Legal focuses its 

practice areas on complex commercial and consumer litigation in Federal Court as well as actions involving 

restructuring, insolvency, and adversarial bankruptcy matters. Additionally, the firm routinely advises its 

clients on claims involving alleged breaches of non-compete, non-solicit, and non-disclosure agreements.  

The firm’s corporate and transactional practice includes drafting, reviewing, and negotiating significant 

company agreements and contracts and providing general legal counsel in order to promote its clients’ 

business activities and help manage their risks.  Finally, the firm has prosecuted and defended numerous 

actions involving complex commercial litigation issues.  

Associate Attorney: Mark D. Ryan, P.C., Bay Minette Alabama, June, 2006 – July, 2009.  The firm 

primarily handled litigation resulting from contract disputes, property transactions, the review and 

consultation of form contracts and the formation of small business entities. 

 

Education: 

 

Cumberland School of Law, Samford University, Birmingham, AL. 2006. 

 

  Academic Honors 

Scholar of Merit Award, Constitutional Law. 

Scholar of Merit, Appellate Advocacy. 

Scholar of Merit Award, Criminal Law. 

Scholar of Merit Award, Federal Rules of Evidence. 

 

The Leadership Institute, Grassroots Activist School. 2004. 

 

Birmingham-Southern College, Birmingham, AL. 

B.A.: Philosophy, Political Science, and Economics. 2003. 

 

Independent Study: Prior to engaging in the full time practice of law, I conducted an independent market 

research and analysis of the North Baldwin County Economy; an independent study of the political, ethical, 

and economic implications of organ procurement and distribution on the open market; a comprehensive 

study of Constitutional Law; and an advanced study of the First Amendment. 

 

Personal: 

 

I am a lifelong resident of Baldwin County.  I was born in Stockton and now reside in Daphne with my 

wife, Valle, and daughter, Eloise.   I have established my law practice in Ole Daphne, and my wife is an 

elementary school teacher at Rockwell.  We attend Eastern Shore Baptist Church.   

29



 

30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MAYOR'S REPORT 

 
 

NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
  
 
 
 
 

80



CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
NOTES:                                                              
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                    

                                                                    
DEPARTMENT HEAD’S COMMENTS  

 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 

                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
      
 
 
 
 

81



 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS & OTHER BUSINESS 

 
NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
 
 
 

82



Resolution 2013-01 
 

Agreement: Alabama Dept of Economic and Community Affairs (ADECA) 
Construction of Boardwalk Connector Bridge from 

Gator Alley Park to the Eastern Shore National Recreation Trail 
SubGrant No. 12-RT-54-03 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne did heretofore submit an application to 
the Alabama Department of Economic and Community Affairs (ADECA) for the 
construction of a boardwalk connector bridge from “Gator Alley” to the Eastern Shore Trail 
Sidewalks; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Daphne has received notification from ADECA that such grant 
application has been approved and accepted; and 
 
WHEREAS, 80% of the project will be funded through the grant (maximum $ 80,000) and 
the remaining 20% and any amounts over the $ 80,000 grant maximum will be funded by 
the City of Daphne. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
as follows: 
 

1) The City shall enter into an agreement entitled “Gator Alley Park- Eastern Shore 
NRT Trail Connector:  Project 12-RT-54-03” with the State of Alabama acting by 
and through the Alabama Department of Economic and Community Affairs;  
AND 

2) The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute such agreement for and on behalf of 
the City of Daphne;  AND 

3) The City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest such agreement and affix   
      the Seal of the City of Daphne to the same; AND 
4) The City of Daphne hereby appropriates match funds in the amount of $ 20,000 

and from the Lodging Tax Fund for the purpose of completing such grant project. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 
ALABAMA, this            day of       , 2013. 
 
 
 
                                                                ____________________________________ 
      Bailey Yelding, Jr, Mayor 
 
      
 
ATTEST: 
I, the undersigned qualified and acting City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama, do hereby certify that the 
above and foregoing is a true copy of a Resolution lawfully passed and adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Daphne, at the regular meeting held on the ___ day of ______, 2013, and that such resolution is on 
file in the City Clerk’s office. 
 
______________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk        

83



CITY OF DAPHNE 
RESOLUTION NO.  2013 - 02 

 
REVISIONS TO CITY OF DAPHNE STREET MAP 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Daphne, Alabama at their 
regular meeting held on December 20, 2012, approved a favorable recommendation to 
the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama for a revision to the City of Daphne 
Street Map and presented at said meeting; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said revision to street map is necessary due to additional streets 
being added to and accepted by the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, due notice of said revisions to the City of Daphne Street Map has 
been provided to the public as required by law through publication and open display at 
the City of Daphne Public Library and City Hall; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, after due 
consideration, and upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission of the City of 
Daphne, believes it is in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens 
of the City to accept the revisions to the City of Daphne Street Map; and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, as follows: 
 
 SECTION I: ADOPTION OF MAP 
 
 THAT the City of Daphne Street Map was considered by the City of Daphne 
Planning Commission on December 20, 2012, and having made a favorable 
recommendation to the City Council and said revised map being attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted as the official “City of Daphne Street Map.” 
 
 SECTION II: REPEALER 
 
 THAT Resolution No. 2006-22, Resolution No. 2006-66, and Resolution No. 
2007-05, Resolution 2007-69, Resolution 2008-02, 2008-41, Resolution 2009-06, 
Resolution 2009-72, Resolution 2010-22, Resolution 2010-76 and Resolution 2011-09, 
2011-62, 2012-05 and 2012-55 entitled “City of Daphne Street Map” are hereby 
repealed in their entirety and any Resolution(s) or parts of Resolution(s) conflicting with 
the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed insofar as they conflict. 
 
 
 
 

84



RESOLUTION 2013-02                  REVISIONS TO STREET MAP           PAGE   2 
 
 
 
 
 SECTION III: EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 THAT This Resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of 
its approval by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama. 
 
 
 
 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA ON THIS THE ______DAY OF _____________, 2013. 
 
 
       :  
 
                           
       ________________________ 
       BAILEY YELDING, JR.,  

MAYOR CITY OF DAPHNE 
        
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
REBECCA A. HAYES,  
INTERIM CITY CLERK 
 
 

85



86



ORDINANCE 2012-72 
 
 

Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013 
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2013 Budget is being considered by the City Council; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget, the City Council 
has determined that certain appropriations are required and should be approved 
and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, certain sidewalk installations are needed for safe passage along City 
streets for the following locations: 

 Wilson Avenue-Northside US Hwy 98 to Watts Lane 
 CR 64 – Southside Beverly Street to Essex Street 
 Gregor Street, Historic Malbis – St Barbara to back alley 
 Whispering Pines – Northside Brookhaven to Stratford Glen 
 US Hwy 98 – Westside Service Road to D’Olive Creek 
 Daphmont – Warren Drive 
 Daphmont – Cedar Drive 
 Daphmont – Maple Drive 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that funds in the amount of $74,304.36 from the Capital Reserve Fund 
are hereby appropriated and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget for  1.5 
miles of Sidewalk Improvements.   
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS               day of                      , 2012. 
 

                                                                                                                                                     
 
_________________________________ 

                                                                       Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 
          
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk 

87



CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE 2013–01 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONSENTING TO THE LEASE OF CERTAIN PROPERTY BY THE 

UTILITIES BOARD OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE TO THE CITY OF DAPHNE 

WHEREAS, the Utilities Board of the City of Daphne (“Daphne Utilities”) is required to 

receive the consent of the City of Daphne  under the provisions of Ala. Code § 11-50-314(a)(10) 

before it leases property; and 

WHEREAS, the management of Daphne Utilities has determined that it is in the best 

interest of Daphne Utilities to lease certain of its property to JMF Solutions, LLC as described in 

detail on Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Daphne Utilities has approved the lease of the 

property to JMF Solutions, LLC as described in Exhibit “A”. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of the City of Daphne 

does hereby consent to the lease by Daphne Utilities of the property described on Exhibit “A” to 

JMF Solutions, LLC. 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA on this _____day of ___________, 2013. 

  

 

       ___________________________________ 

Bailey Yelding, Jr., 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, 

Interim City Clerk 

 

88



89



90



91



92



 

 

 

ORDINANCE 2013-02 

 

Establishing Public Works Equipment Use Policy 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne recognize the importance of 

promoting the health and welfare of its citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the City of Daphne, through the Department of Public Works, 

to support the sporting events, festivals, fundraisers, parades, and all other special events of the 

Municipalities, Schools, Charities, and Civic Groups of Baldwin County; and 

 

WHEREAS, Public Works in the past has made available to these groups for their events 

barricades, tents, tables, chairs, water coolers, and ice; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is an expense associated with the purchase, maintenance, transportation, and 

the wear and tear of these items. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA that in order to insure these materials are available and in 

good repair at all times, the following policy is established: 

 

SECTION I APPLICATION OF POLICY 

 

For all groups described above, except Schools (and associated entities) within Daphne 

attendance zones, this policy shall apply. 

 

SECTION II  NUMBER OF USE REQUEST  

 

a.) Each group described above will be afforded one equipment use request, for a singular 

event, per calendar year. 

 

b.) For each subsequent equipment use request the below rental fee schedule will apply on a 

unit basis. 

 

SECTION III  REQUEST AND USE DETAILS 

 

a.) The request must be made in writing a minimum of 30 days prior to pick-up or delivery 

 

b.) The request must indicate items, quantities, dates of pick-up/delivery and return 

 

c.) The request must include name of group, description of event, and contact person with 

full contact information 

 

d.) For events outside of the City of Daphne the requesting group will be responsible for 

transportation of requested equipment 

 

 

93



 

 

ORDINANCE 2013-02      PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMENT USE POLICY              PAGE   2  

 

 

e.) Only Municipal/County vehicles may tow City barricade trailers. Nongovernmental 

groups shall pay the haul rate below 

 

f.) Equipment will be inspected upon return. Borrower will be responsible for cost of any 

damage 

 

g.) The Mayor, at his discretion, may waive any part of or all requirements of this policy. 

 

 

SECTION IV  RENTAL FEE SCHEDULE 

 

ITEM      PRICE PER UNIT 
 

Barricades $5.00 EA 

 

Barricade Trailers (150 capacity) $75.00 EA 

 

Tent (20x40)  $300.00 EA 

                     

Tent (10x10) $25.00 EA 

   

Table (6 & 8 Foot Folding) $5.00 EA 

 

Chairs (Metal Folding) $2.00 EA 

 

Trailer Haul Rate $0.75 /Mile 
 

 

SECTION V  SEVERABILITY 

The provisions of this Ordinance are severable. If any provision, section, paragraph, sentence or 

part thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect or impair the 

remainder of the Ordinance, it being the legislative intent to ordain and enact each provision, 

section, paragraph, sentence : and part thereof separately and independently of each other.  

SECTION VI:  EFFECTIVE DATE  

This Ordinance shall become effective and be in force from and after the date of its 

approval and adoption by the City Council of Daphne and publication as required by law.  
 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 2013-02      PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMENT USE POLICY              PAGE   3 

94



 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA on  this _________ day of ___________, 2013. 

 

 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Bailey Yelding, Jr.  

       Mayor 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, 

Interim City Clerk 

95



CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-03 

 

Ordinance to Amend the City of Daphne 
Land Use and Development Ordinance 

Article 9, District Provisions – Section 12(g) Accessory Structures 
and Article 8, Definitions 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Daphne, Alabama at 
its regular meeting held on September 27, 2012, considered the 3rd and 4th  
proposed amendments to the City of Daphne Land Use and Development 
Ordinance No. 2011-54; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered an amendment to 
Article 9, District Provisions, to add and include 12(g) clarifying the use of 
prefabricated accessory structures; and after such consideration the Planning 
Commission set forth a favorable recommendation to the City Council of the City 
of Daphne for the addition of said 12(g) to Article 9 of the Land Use and 
Development Ordinance; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered an amendment to 
Article 8, Definition of Terms, to clarify and define terms associated with the 
amendment to include in Article 9, Section 12(g); and after such consideration 
the Planning Commission set forth a favorable recommendation to the City 
Council of the City of Daphne for said amendments to the Definition of Terms; 
and, 

 WHEREAS, due notice of said proposed amendments has been provided 
to the public as required by law through publication and open display at the 
Daphne Public Library and City Hall, a public hearing was held before the City 
Council on January 7, 2013; and,                                   

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne after due consideration 
and upon recommendation of the Planning Commission, deemed that said 
amendments to the City of Daphne Land Use Ordinance are proper and in the 
best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of 
Daphne, Alabama; and, 

 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, as follows: 

96



 
 

ORDINANCE 2013-03      ACCESSORY STRUCTURES & DEFINITIONS        PAGE   2 

 

SECTION I.  AMENDMENTS 

Article 9, District Provisions shall be and is hereby amended to include the 
following: 

12(g)   

Prefabricated accessory structures are intended for storage.  Any and all 
prefabricated accessory structures shall conform to the following requirements: 

(1) Shall be no more than 18 ft (eighteen feet) in length; 

(2) Shall not be used as a habitable unit; 

(3) Shall not be served by heat or sanitary plumbing; 

(4) Does not need to be placed on a permanent foundation; and 

(5) Shall be no more than 220 square feet in area. 

 

  Article 8, Definition of Terms shall be and is hereby amended to include 
the following: 
 
  Prefabricated (prefab or factory built).  Any structure, which is wholly or in 
substantial part, made, fabricated, formed or assembled in manufacturing 
facilities for installation or assembly and installation on a building site.  A building 
which is wholly or in substantial part manufactured at an off-site location to be 
assembled on-site. 
 
  Accessory Structures, Prefabricated.  An accessory structure that is pre-
built or purchased in a kit in prefabricated sections.  It is not designed or intended 
to be used as a habitable unit and is not designed to be served by central heat or 
sanitary plumbing and does not need to be placed on a permanent foundation.  A 
non-habitable unit that is pre-built in a kit in prefabricated sections. 
 

All other language, sections, uses, conditions and/or content of Ordinance 
2011-054, and any amendments thereto, shall remain the same and shall be 
unchanged by this Ordinance; this Ordinance shall only amend Article 8 and 
Article 9 as specifically set out hereinabove.  

 
SECTION II: REPEALER.  
 All other City Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions of 
this Ordinance, in so far as they conflict, are hereby repealed. 

97



 
 

ORDINANCE 2013-03      ACCESSORY STRUCTURES & DEFINITIONS        PAGE   3 
 
 
SECTION III: SEVERABILITY.  
 The provisions of this Ordinance are severable. If any provision, section, 
paragraph, sentence, or part thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, 
such decision shall not affect or impair the remainder of said Ordinance, it being 
the legislative intent to ordain and enact each provision, section, paragraph, 
sentence, and part thereof separately and independently of each other. 
SECTION IV: EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of 
its approval by the City Council of the City of Daphne and after publication as 
required by law.  
 
 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS            day of ________________, 2012. 
 

THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 
AN ALABAMA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

 
        
 

___________________________________                                                                                           
BAILEY YELDING, JR., 
MAYOR                       

        
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________ 
REBECCA A. HAYES, 
INTERIM CITY CLERK 

98


	AGENDA - January 7
	City Roll Call
	Council Mintues - December 17
	Council Minutes - Special Called
	PH Info
	Reporting of Standing Committees
	Public Safety Minutes
	Report of Special Boards
	IDB Resume - Lynn Mitchell 
	IDB - Resume - John R  Cox
	Planning Commission Minutes
	Set PH Date Info
	Mayors Report
	City Attorneys and Department Head Report
	RESOLUTION - ORDINANCES - DIVIDER PAGE
	2013-01 - RES -  Rec Trails Accept Gator Alley Bridge
	2013-02 - RES - AMEND STREET MAPS - 12 2012 (2)
	Backup to 2013-02 - RES
	2012-72 - ORD - Sidewalks Improvements FY13
	2013-01 - ORD - DUB JMF Lease
	Backup to 2013-01 - ORD
	2013-02 - ORD -  Public Works - Equipment Use Policy Final Draft
	2013-03 - ORD - AMEND LUDO - PRE-FAB ADDITION



